

























Sporting Runabout, BH4473, was the personal transport of fireman Mr E.H. Ward, seen here at the Fireman’s Sports Day at Bletchley, Buckinghamshire, in the summer of 1920.






















In the summer of 1957, René Pellandini of Worldwide Import Inc., Morgan’s dealer in Los Angeles, visited the factory. He is seen here with the factory management team, far right, next to Peter Morgan and Jim Goodall. On the left is George Goodall (in cap) and Harry Jones. The photograph was taken in the factory yard outside the despatch bay alongside a new US specification Plus 4.







Foreword





I was honoured to be asked by Martyn Webb to write a foreword to his history of the Morgan car and Morgan factory, or the ‘works’, as it was always known internally. Webb has undertaken a massive task, researching well over a hundred years of achievement with access to archives of company minutes, factory drawings and memos, pages of press cuttings and photographs and personal recollections. Webb has cross-referenced hours of interviews with people who were present at the time with published data to provide a balanced view of events and facts. This history is a meticulous piece of research and is sure to become the definitive history of Morgan, a company that was present at the birth of popular automotive mobility.


Of course, memory invariably involves falsification and Webb has combined personal accounts with company records to mitigate this problem. An example is the multiple differing recollections from perhaps one of Morgan’s greatest competitive successes, at Le Mans in 1962. Webb’s research provides a definitive view. But it is always difficult to fix a neutral point of view – God’s view, if you like – and some would argue that the pursuit of a determined factual truth, an orderly extension of common sense, is not the real story. As Gilles Deleuze, the twentieth century French philosopher, wrote: ‘genuine thinking is a violent confrontation with reality’. In Morgan’s case, passion generated by the company and its products is perhaps the secret of the longevity of the company rather than a dry account of models, specifications and engineering achievements. Morgan in the automotive world is unique in creating myths and stories that are perhaps only slightly based in reality. The ten-year waiting list comes to mind.


Why is this? In terms of volumes produced, Morgan should be a footnote in automotive history. Yet the company punches far above its weight in the historical record. Perhaps this is because, like Bugatti, the company is one of the few automotive examples of the human combination of art and science. Deleuze distinguished art, philosophy and science as three distinct disciplines, each analysing reality in different ways. Whereas philosophy creates concepts, the arts create novel qualitative combinations of sensation and feeling (precepts and affects) and the sciences create quantitative theories based on fixed points of reference, such as the speed of light or absolute zero. I remember Ian Minards, then chief engineer at Aston Martin, once told me that every aspect of car control is a merely a spring and a damper and variations of the same. From an engineering point of view I am sure he was right. This was certainly the case for Morgan in the 1950s and 1960s. The sliding pillar suspension system was for many owners and drivers the subject of heated discussion and passionately held views. Much of this discussion flew in the face of scientific thinking, yet it may have promoted the longevity of the company and the love of the product. Feeling often trumps reality in the car world. Throughout the history of Morgan, from its inception as a company in 1909 to the 1960s, art and to a certain extent philosophy was always incorporated into the strategy of the company. Among the diehard followers this combination bred an undying loyalty. A passion for the company was baked into all the members of the Morgan family and my sister, Sonia, proved humanity is always a winner in the marketing stakes when she became the ‘face’ of the Morgan Plus Four Plus.


Today the UK car industry faces a series of alarming problems: car production in the UK has fallen from 1.7 million in 2016 to less than 0.7 million cars in 2021; the move to electric vehicles is now a certainty in 2030. But perhaps solutions to these problems are elusive. Some of them seem to set incompatible goals – for example, the goal of agile lightweight passenger cars and cars that protect and carry a large battery pack for a long range. Cities are happily now designed above all for pedestrians and bicycles, yet deliveries to shops and restaurants still have to be made. Driverless cars spell an end to the skill of driving, yet cars with electric motors can accelerate much faster and will be more dynamic. Perhaps the greatest conundrum of all is whether personal mobility is actually beneficial to humanity or not. Apart from the horrendous cumulative total of deaths and injuries from car accidents over 100 years, a massive proportion of global warming is caused by the emissions from automotive mobility. It is time for a massive rethink on the whole issue.


The early days of any blossoming industry frequently provide pointers to the future, albeit in forms which were initially seen as dead ends. For example, there were more electric vehicles in New York in 1909 than internal combustion cars when H.F.S. Morgan built his first prototype three-wheeler. Webb’s history of Morgan presents some interesting ‘Morgan’-type avenues for the future. As Webb shows, Morgan has pioneered new design directions. The Morgan Three-wheeler brought personal mobility to the masses in an extraordinarily efficient manner, even by the standards of today. The history of the Morgan in trials and competitions was an essential component to promote reliability and test new design solutions, not a marketing exercise. Morgan tested cars in competition, notably with Prudence Fawcett at Le Mans in 1938, and to determine the reliability of the car though the fact that she was such a popular driver at the race cannot have harmed publicity for the company. Morgan also spearheaded the practice of exports to improve the balance of payments of the UK. The popularity of the Morgan two-seater sports car in the USA, following MG’s success before the Second World War, encouraged MG and Triumph to follow Morgan’s example. In the 1950s and 1960s Morgan exported by far the greater part of its annual production overseas and Triumph in particular were quick to follow after failing to convince H.F.S. (Henry Frederick Stanley Morgan) and Peter Morgan to sell them the company. Morgan stuck to its guns of hand-built production but that system, using wood from trees and the human hand to finesse natural materials, foretold the bespoke production systems of the luxury car manufacturers of today. Perhaps there are also lessons to be learnt about recycling from Morgan’s history. The restoration of any Morgan built between 1910 and 1965, the period covered by this book, is still possible in a garage next to the house with parts readily available from Morgan dealers. Morgan pioneered a low-carbon approach to the construction of personal mobility before global warming had even been thought about.


With the recent upheavals in the motor industry, Webb’s history of Morgan may be timely. Morgan was always a very human company and perhaps that is why it is beloved by so many owners and those who may not even have had the opportunity to own a Morgan. Webb’s story might help explain this phenomenon. Webb’s copious history of Morgan cars illustrates many examples of a human approach to automotive engineering problems. This lesson may be a timely one in an age of artificial intelligence and the approach of a singularity derived from vast amounts of data. Science and AI can suggest solutions, but humans have to ask the right questions. A digital data-driven solution may not be the best one for humanity. As Webb shows, Morgan has provided us with solutions and answers to questions in the past that were made before the ubiquity of data-driven solutions. This, rather than the volumes of cars produced, may be why the history of Morgan is important and could have lessons for us all.




CHARLES MORGAN







Introduction





Morgan is a paradox of the motor industry! For well over a century, this small family-run concern has been handcrafting anachronistic vehicles from a row of timeworn workshops in rural Worcestershire. It has survived two World Wars, the great economic depression of the 1930s and numerous other financial troubles. In the early years, the factory persevered in building three-wheeled cyclecars when three-wheelers were seriously out of fashion and the cyclecar as a genre was extinct. For most of its subsequent history, Morgan was alone in persisting with traditional styling superimposed on a wooden frame, when all other manufacturers were embracing streamlining and aerodynamics, unitary construction, modern materials and mass-production.


Industry experts have predicted Morgan’s demise with monotonous regularity and the perceived wisdom has often been that the company could not possibly survive in competition with the big manufacturers. Yet survive it has, confounding the experts and delighting devotees around the world who appreciate classic sports cars. How it has achieved its fame and longevity when almost all other small companies have been consigned to history is mystifying. Morgan is, quite simply, an enigma!


[image: ]


Shy and introverted, the founder of the company Harry Morgan was a maverick, never following convention in the pioneering days, but sufficiently confident in his engineering expertise to go it alone and build vehicles that were neither cars nor motorcycles. The Morgan Runabout was the original ‘cyclecar’, a machine that launched the ‘new motoring’ fashion, and introduced motoring to those of more modest means. When the ‘cyclecar’ met its inevitable end, Morgan fell in line with other makers, with a conventional sports car that did not simply match the opposition but, more often than not, proved superior on both road and track. Not content to just build the cars, Harry Morgan proved their performance and strength in numerous reliability trials and was widely regarded by his peers as one of the finest competition drivers of the day.


Peter Morgan was very similar in character to his father. This quiet, astute man shared the same instinctive appreciation for simple, but effective engineering. His army officer training provided him with the requisite managerial skills, making him a very popular boss to his employees, whilst being very effective in having to contend with an ever-growing threat from the mainstream, mass-production industry. Such was the reputation and respect that both father and son enjoyed, that they were able to negotiate major contracts for engine supplies from the big manufacturers. The Morgan Motor Company may have been a small concern, but it was held in high regard and in all other respects it was the equal of the very best in the business.


Since the company’s centenary in 2009, I have been privileged to work at Pickersleigh Road and to play a very minor part in Morgan’s recent history. Much has changed in the past dozen years, yet the factory and its cars remain unique in the modern motor industry. Today, the visitor centre welcomes many thousands of guests each year to experience the build process and to have the opportunity to drive the cars. The Plus Four and Plus Six models retain the handsome styling of the classic models from the 1960s, yet are underpinned by the very latest bonded aluminium chassis technology and powered by modern generation 4- and 6-cylinder BMW turbo engines. The three-wheeler has also seen a renaissance, initially with a V-twin engine, and more recently the ‘Super 3’, with an in-line 3-cylinder Ford engine (a modern equivalent of Harry Morgan’s F-Type of the 1930s).


Nothing quite matches the driving experience of a Morgan, combining impressive power delivery with extraordinary levels of roadholding and handling whilst retaining the enjoyment of open-top motoring. Morgan’s present-day success is the culmination of decades of innovative engineering, skilled craftsmanship and impressive motor sport achievements. Morgan – An English Enigma examines the background to this extraordinary company, and the circumstances that resulted in the remarkable survival of an icon of British motoring.
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CHAPTER ONE


Victorian Family, Edwardian Factory





Mechanised Transport in Queen Victoria’s Reign


The freedom to travel extensively is something that we take for granted today, but for centuries this was an unattainable dream for all but the wealthiest adventurers. Ordinary folk seldom strayed far from the villages and towns of their birth, so both local journeys and more distant travel relied upon human or animal muscle or the somewhat unreliable power of the wind. The Victorian era, however, witnessed the rapid development of steam technology which, when developed to the extent that it was able to replace equine power, offered new opportunities for travel. As with most new ventures, enticing commercial opportunities drove rapid advances in the application of steam, resulting in the railway boom of the 1840s and 1850s. Huge fortunes were anticipated by entrepreneurs keen to develop an integrated rail network across the land, and steam ships promised to extend the network (and the industrialists’ prosperity), still further.


Britain was the most technologically advanced nation in the world in Queen Victoria’s reign. Its engineering expertise was the catalyst for the growth of the new railway industry, supplying the machines and the infrastructure to meet the needs of this new form of travel both at home and abroad. Engineering works proliferated and this rampant industrialisation transformed several English towns such as Darlington, Crewe, Doncaster and Swindon, which henceforth became known as ‘railway towns’.


However, it was soon apparent that by the mid-nineteenth century, with the exception of a few commercial vehicles, steam was not suited to road transport. Many attempts were made to develop practical road vehicles for private travel, but the firing of the boiler, the provision of fuel and water, the dirt, the steam, and the sheer weight of the machines all conspired against their use. Furthermore, strict legislation limited the operation of these vehicles to the extent that further development for road use at that time was futile.


For the athletic and adventurous traveller, a new and exciting contrivance became fashionable in the 1870s; the high-wheel bicycle (subsequently known as the ‘penny-farthing’). Its use, however, was restricted to sporting young men since, by the very nature of its construction, it was impossible for ladies to ride owing to the fashions of the day. The high-wheeler, however, was not without its dangers, and due to the instability of the machine and the poor state of the roads at that time, falls from the much-elevated seat were frequent and considered even more hazardous than to tumble from the saddle of a horse. The solution was the ‘safety bicycle’, pioneered by John Starley in 1885. The device, which he named the ‘Rover’, utilised smaller, equally sized wheels that allowed for a far safer riding position. Easier steering and geared chain drive to the rear wheel also resulted in a faster, yet more stable machine. It was therefore inevitable that by the 1890s, to be seen pedalling a safety bicycle became the height of fashion.


The Morgans of Stoke Lacy


The industrial towns and cities where new forms of mechanised transport were evolving were far removed from the tranquil village setting of Stoke Lacy in Herefordshire. Presiding over the village was the vicar, prebendary George Morgan – a somewhat unlikely admirer of the railways, but a regular passenger for both ecclesiastical and recreational journeys. The Morgan family had made Stoke Lacy their home since 1871, when George’s father, the Reverend Henry Morgan, bought the living of the village and moved into the rectory. Henry enjoyed a comfortable living as, subsequently, did his son George, who inherited his father’s position and further enhanced the family’s prospects by marrying Florence Williams, who came from a very wealthy family in Kent.


The Morgans’ first child Henry Frederick Stanley (known in the family as ‘Harry’), was born on 11 August 1881. Three daughters followed: Frieda; Ethel; and Dorothy; another boy, Charles, sadly died in infancy. Being raised in such privileged circumstances, for Harry and his siblings life at the rectory in late Victorian times must have been very agreeable. George Morgan’s resources allowed the family to enjoy regular railway journeys to visit relatives in Kent, along with holiday excursions to a variety of seaside destinations. Given his father’s enthusiasm for rail travel, and the attraction of the steam locomotives, it was inevitable that young Harry Morgan became captivated by the bold designs and massive engineering of these machines.







Harry Morgan aged eleven in 1892, photographed by his father whilst at Stone House School in Kent.





By the age of ten, Harry was sent to Stone House, a boarding school in Ramsgate, close to his mother’s relatives in Kent. He was an average pupil, not particularly academic, but he showed a keen aptitude for the more practical subjects. With encouragement from his parents, who sent working model steam engines for Harry to play with at school, he was soon modifying and experimenting with these miniature machines in his leisure hours, discovering ways to improve their running. In this extra-curricular activity, Harry was joined by a fellow pupil, and was helped by one of the schoolmasters, who shared an interest in engineering and recognised the boy’s fascination for all things mechanical.


In May 1894, twelve-year-old Harry Morgan moved to Marlborough College in Wiltshire. George Morgan’s intention at that time was for Harry to progress to Eton, then to Cambridge and on to continue the family tradition as a clergyman. However, the ever-pragmatic Revd George soon realised that his son had little enthusiasm for an ecclesiastical vocation and accepted that a career in engineering was inevitable. For this, Marlborough College was certainly ill equipped! Harry soon began to struggle; he found the work difficult and uninspiring, and his academic results were poor.


The Morgan family vacation in August 1894 was, for Harry, the ideal antidote to his unhappiness at Marlborough. Making use of the railway network at home and throughout Europe, George took his family on a ‘Grand Tour’, across France, through the Alps to Switzerland and on to Geneva. From there they journeyed to Venice before returning home. George was a keen and very accomplished photographer and the images in surviving family albums record the many scenic locations encountered throughout their adventure.


Harry’s return to Marlborough would have been most disheartening; however, his father sought to mitigate the upset, and, responding to his son’s interest in mechanical contrivances, bought Harry a Triumph bicycle. Harry became the envy of his school friends, and the exasperation of his tutors. No longer confined to playing with models, he now possessed a real machine that he could maintain, develop and modify. Whenever the weather (and the school) permitted, the bicycle allowed him to explore the local district, covering many miles in the vicinity of Marlborough and the surrounding countryside. He even cycled back to Stoke Lacy on occasions. Harry spent four terms at Marlborough but became increasingly unhappy there, his health suffered due to the poor diet (he was never a particularly strong boy) and he finally left in July 1895.


The Pursuit of Engineering


Little is known of Morgan’s subsequent schooling from surviving records, but it is likely that he was privately tutored at Stoke Lacy. By the late 1890s, Morgan was determined to pursue a career in engineering as he witnessed the first examples of rudimentary motor cars taking to the highways. Impractical, unreliable and crude, these machines were rare; the playthings of adventurous and wealthy folk. Morgan, however, could see their potential and anticipated the day when they would replace private horse-drawn conveyances, much as the railways had done for long-distance travel.


Harry next spent a brief period at a private school in Clifton, Bristol, arriving in the autumn of 1898. Bristol was a city with strong connections to engineering, especially railways and steam ships, and in particular, the work of the most famous engineer of the Victorian era; Isambard Kingdom Brunel. It is evident that Morgan was most satisfied with this placement, as letters home to his parents testify. Harry’s bicycle remained his primary means of travel and its maintenance and development occupied much of his leisure time.


In the summer of 1898 whilst at home in Stoke Lacy, Harry became acquainted with Leslie Bacon, a boy from the nearby town of Bromyard. Harry and Leslie were the same age to within a few weeks, and shared a passion for engineering. They spent long hours with Harry’s bicycle and any other mechanical objects to hand, becoming familiar with the intricacies of these devices. Some years later the boys would become business partners, but in 1898 their immediate priority was to gain entry to a suitable establishment that could provide the necessary training to become professional engineers.


One of the most prestigious engineering colleges of the day was at the Crystal Palace in Sydenham, London. Having first applied in July 1898, it was here that, in September 1899, George managed to secure a place for his son. The engineering school occupied four floors of the south tower; a prominent feature of the spectacular Crystal Palace, Joseph Paxton’s magnificent cast-iron and glass structure originally built for the Great Exhibition of 1851. Here, Morgan studied the fundamentals of engineering, spending periods in the drawing office, pattern shop, machine and fitting shop, electrical section and civil engineering department.


The work involved basic engineering practices and associated arithmetic and drawing skills, but it was on the drawing board that Morgan became particularly proficient. He studied both civil and mechanical engineering, but it was the latter that fascinated him most. He learned basic workshop practices and built his own engine, skills that would prove most beneficial in years to come. In his leisure hours Harry continued to develop his bicycle and often competed at the Palace’s own velodrome, around which he became virtually unbeatable in bicycle races. However, another extra-curricular event made a particular impression on the young would-be engineer. Whilst at the Crystal Palace in the spring of 1900, he witnessed the Automobile Club’s 1,000-mile trial, providing ample opportunity to closely examine a variety of the finest early automobiles.


At the dawn of motoring there were no conventions, no standard configurations; the only guidance for designers and engineers came from experience gained in the construction of horse-drawn vehicles. Indeed, many early motor cars were little more than equine carriages in which the horse was replaced by some form of engine. Opinions differed concerning the best type of energy to employ. Steam was an established technology; now a more practical proposition for automobiles since the French engineer Léon Serpollet had developed the ‘flash tube’ steam boiler in 1886. Rapidly gaining popularity was the four-stroke internal combustion petroleum engine patented by German engineer Nikolaus Otto in 1877, which was considered a cleaner, more convenient form of propulsion. Adding to the power options was the electric motor, first employed by French inventor Gustave Trouvé, who had tested his three-wheeled machine along a Paris street in 1880. However, the primitive lead-acid battery had limited power, so the motor could only manage a modest top speed and the vehicle’s range was very limited. All three alternatives had their advocates amongst the pioneering motor manufacturers, but only time would tell which one would endure to dominate the industry.


In Victorian Britain, a few visionary engineers were experimenting with primitive self-propelling vehicles; however, the most significant developments were being made in Germany. Karl Benz in Mannheim is generally regarded as creating the first practical automobile in 1886, named the Benz Motorwagen. Meanwhile, in 1889, Gottlieb Daimler built his Stahlradwagen (or ‘steel-wheeled car’) in Bad Cannstadtt, a suburb of Stuttgart. Development of the motor car continued mostly in Germany, although it was the French who subsequently took the lead and started producing vehicles in considerable numbers; DeDion Bouton, Renault and Panhard et Levassor being the major players at the turn of the century.


Morgan applied his engineering training and inventive mind to assess both the benefits and shortcomings of the machines he had witnessed on display at the Crystal Palace. He studied publications such as the Autocar, launched in 1895 – the first motoring magazine to appear on news stands. He collected photographs and magazine cuttings in a scrapbook and was able to objectively compare the disparate mechanical arrangements of a wide variety of machines. It occurred to Morgan that success relied upon the ingenuity of the manufacturers to devise a vehicle that was reliable, affordable and easy to operate – not attributes that could be taken for granted at that time.


The adoption of the motor car in Britain had been slow compared to continental Europe, as the repressive laws governing their use severely limited the popularity of the automobile at home. The old ‘Highways and Locomotives Act’ – popularly known as the ‘Red Flag’ Act – had eventually been rescinded in November 1896, but this left British motor manufacturers trailing behind those of France and Germany. The repeal of the law had, at least, given a new freedom to British motorists, although many drivers transgressed the still-stringent limits placed upon road users and were dealt with harshly by the courts. Any form of motorsport or competitive driving was likewise strictly discouraged. The development of Britain’s motor industry therefore remained seriously behind that of other European countries. For Harry Morgan, who was approaching the conclusion of his schooling, the design and development of automobiles offered a new and enticing career path. First, however, he needed to augment his mostly academic knowledge with practical experience in an appropriate engineering establishment.


In 1901, Revd George Morgan again used his influence to secure a premium apprenticeship for his son at the factory and maintenance depot of the Great Western Railway in Swindon. A position in railway engineering might appear somewhat inappropriate considering Harry’s passion for motor cars; however, at the turn of the century motors were still in their infancy, therefore the most advanced and innovative engineering was to be found with the comparatively long-established railway industry. Morgan’s apprenticeship was overseen by two of the finest railway engineers of the time – William Dean, chief locomotive and wagon superintendent of the GWR, and Dean’s successor, George Jackson Churchward.


Morgan spent time in the vast workshops at the Swindon plant, gaining first-hand experience of casting and machining components, the assembly and testing of complex mechanisms, and the overhaul and repair of older engines. But of all the new disciplines he was taught, he displayed the greatest aptitude for engineering drawing. In the GWR drawing offices he witnessed the design and development of new ideas – innovations at the very forefront of engineering expertise of the day.







Prebendary George Morgan was one of the first motorists in Herefordshire, having acquired his Lanchester in 1902. He is seen here outside Stoke Lacy Rectory with his wife Florence and daughters Freida, Dorothy and Ethel.





Whilst Queen Victoria’s reign had seen the rapid development of steam technology, the Edwardian era marked the beginning of the dominance of the internal combustion engine. In 1902 the Morgans, both father and son, became motorists. Revd George Morgan bought a Lanchester, a large, rather sedate tiller-steered automobile as would befit a respected clergyman. George thus became one of the first motorists in Herefordshire. Registered CJ22, George Morgan’s car was a handsome machine, featuring a tonneau body painted green and lined in red. Dressed in the most fashionable motoring outfits of the period, the Reverend George and Mrs Morgan, frequently with the children in the capacious rear, were a familiar sight around the local country lanes.


In contrast to his father’s dignified conveyance, Harry was given an Eagle Tandem for his twenty-first birthday – a three-wheeler of a type known as a fore-car, which had a single driving seat mounted high above the rear wheel and an elaborate buttoned-leather seat for the passenger in front. The Eagle was fast but not too reliable, and gave Harry some interesting experiences during the eighteen months that he owned it.







Harry Morgan on his Eagle Tandem outside Stoke lacy Rectory.





In June 1904, shortly before finishing his apprenticeship at Swindon, Harry sold his Eagle and the following month replaced it with a 7HP, 2-cylinder Little Star, registered FK62. This was a conventional four-wheeled motor car, built in Wolverhampton, fitted with a two-seater body and painted deep red. The Little Star served Harry well for a few years and was his main means of transport as he completed his apprenticeship and embarked on a career in automotive engineering.


Having completed his apprenticeship, in 1904 Morgan spent a brief period working in Swindon’s GWR drawing office.


Harry now turned his attention to finding a position which would further his interest in automobiles. The GWR had a motor car department at Paddington station, but regrettably there were no vacancies at that time. George Morgan had also been busy on his son’s behalf and in December 1904, using his influence as a Lanchester customer, contacted Mr Frank Lanchester to enquire about a position with the firm. The Lanchester works were in Montgomery Street, Birmingham, not too far from Stoke Lacy. Lanchester replied, offering Harry, ‘the opportunity of gaining experience of our cars at the commencement of next season.’


The offer must have been tempting, since the company was renowned for its radical and innovative engineering, not only as applied to automobiles, but in the latest mechanical discipline of aeronautics. However, after careful consideration Harry decided not to accept Lanchester’s offer, as he had ideas of his own as to his future career.


Morgan & Co., Garage and Motor Works


Throughout the winter of 1904/5, Harry Morgan had ample opportunity to discuss various vocational options with his father. Whilst employment with a major motor company was the obvious way forward, the opportunity to establish his own business was an enticing notion. His friend Leslie Bacon was likewise searching for employment, having recently completed his railway engineering apprenticeship at Darlington. Regular get-togethers at the rectory during Christmas and New Year would have given the two friends ample time to make plans for the future. Before long the decision had been made: Harry would set up in business, opening a motor car garage and securing the local agency rights for a variety of motor manufacturers.


In the early months of 1905, with the full support and financial backing of his ever-enthusiastic father, Harry Morgan acquired a plot of land which included a house called Chestnut Villa, in Worcester Road, Malvern Link, and built a small garage on the site. The choice of location was an inspired move, since the beautiful Malvern Hills and the benefits of the many hydropathic health spas in the town attracted wealthy visitors – just the sort of people who could afford to indulge in the new and exciting adventure of motoring. Joining Morgan in this venture was his close friend Leslie Bacon, who also became Harry’s tenant in Chestnut Villa. The scene was now set for the emergence of one of the most extraordinary stories in the history of the British motor industry.


Morgan’s new garage opened on 20 May 1905. He had negotiated the sole rights in the district to sell Darracq, Wolseley and Siddeley motor cars. Wealthy visitors driving their own automobiles on ‘motor tours’ – a very fashionable pastime in the Edwardian period – would stop at the Morgan Garage for supplies of petroleum spirit or to seek help with maintenance or repairs to their vehicles.


Very few people could afford a new car at that time, so Morgan also offered a selection of second-hand cars for sale. Hire cars (complete with driver) were also available from the garage, charged per day (£3 3s.), or per week (£15 15s.), or by distance (1s. per mile, minimum charge 3s.).


Realising the need for better transport facilities for local people, Morgan introduced a Public Service Car (using a large 22HP Daimler motor car), which was to run from Malvern Link, along Worcester Road; the main thoroughfare through the town, via the Belle View Hotel in Great Malvern, and continue to Malvern Wells. This embryonic facility would soon develop into Malvern’s first bus service.







Morgan and Co. Garage and Motor Works, May 1905. Vehicles from left to right are: 22hp Daimler AB436, 6hp Wolseley, 12hp Lanchester with Brougham top P1207 (with Harry at the wheel), 7hp Little Star FK62, 12hp Lanchester Tonneau five-seater.





Morgan’s new enterprise, however, was not without its detractors. The presence of his garage and the gradual increase in motorised traffic in the locality caused many residents to raise complaints in the press and with the local council. Their grievances included the danger posed to women and children by reckless and inconsiderate automobilists who, frightening horses and other wildlife, polluted the air with fumes, dropped oil on the highway, damaged roads in the town due to the weight of the vehicles, and in consequence, raised clouds of dust from the wheels and ‘blowpipe exhausts’. Needless to say, Harry Morgan’s business became the target for much criticism, and his establishment was far from popular with many local people.


Despite criticism from certain quarters, Morgan’s Garage proved to be a very popular amenity and the business thrived. Such was the unreliability of early automobiles that the presence of a well-equipped ‘motor works’ in the district often dictated the route taken through the Worcestershire countryside. Furthermore, for the adventurous motorist, the Malvern Hills provided a tough, but rewarding challenge to the hill-climbing capabilities of primitive automobiles. These were expensive machines and their wealthy occupants, on visiting Malvern, would naturally demand the very best when patronising hotels and restaurants in the town. Malvern therefore gained a reputation as one of the most fashionable destinations for the rich and famous.


For the less-affluent traveller, the only option for personal motorised transport was the emergence of the first motorcycles. Matchless was one of the first companies in Britain to introduce motorcycles, developing a machine in 1899 and eventually going into production in 1901. Another motorcycle pioneer was John Alfred Prestwich, who built his first machine in 1902, known as a ‘J.A.P’. Some years later, both J.A.P. and Matchless would play a major role in the development of the Morgan three-wheeler.


Early motorcycles slowly gained acceptance with adventurous, sporting young men, but being solo machines, they failed to appeal to couples or families. Some attempt was made to accommodate a passenger with the adoption of the sidecar, but even so, few ladies chose to ride in such a primitive contraption. Although the technology was improving, the motorcycle at that time remained a rather impractical means of transport.


Motoring for the Common Man


The concept of combining the simple mechanical arrangements of early motorcycles with a lightweight three- or four-wheeled chassis had occupied the thoughts of many engineers at the turn of the century. France was foremost in this field of experimentation and a few of the more capable engineering firms, such as Leon Bollé and DeDion Bouton, achieved success with their designs and went into production. In France these were known as ‘voiturettes’, better known in Britain as ‘fore cars’ on account of the seating position for the passenger – rather perilously exposed at the very front of the machine! Harry Morgan’s Eagle Tandem shared the layout of a fore car, but here the similarity ended, the Eagle being a relatively large, heavy (and expensive) vehicle.


Whilst Morgan’s garage business was going from strength to strength, his true passion was for engineering design and innovation. The motor car may have been gaining in popularity, but it was still strictly in the domain of the wealthy. Morgan perceived that there was potentially a huge market for a smaller, simplified automobile, a machine that would replace the primitive fore car, and would provide more comfortable and practical transport than the motorcycle and sidecar.


Morgan’s youthful experimentation with bicycles, his engineering training both theoretical and practical, plus his subsequent involvement with automobiles, allowed him to assess the benefits of the various mechanical arrangements currently available from different manufacturers. Many vehicles were over-engineered but underpowered, fitted with unnecessarily heavy bodies, luxurious upholstery and elaborate fittings. He surmised that it was feasible to construct a simple, lightweight machine, requiring just a modest-sized engine, and fitted with a minimal body devoid of excess embellishments, that would also deliver a good performance. Such a machine would be comparatively easy to build and inexpensive, enabling its maker to exploit a hitherto untapped market, aimed at the lower-to-middle income family. This would be a vehicle for the average man (and occasionally woman) who would otherwise never be able to afford a conventional automobile.


Morgan was not alone in this venture and was aware that other designers and engineers were developing minimal machines designed to fill the gap between motorcycles and conventional motor cars. Most of these were ill-considered contraptions that failed to perform even at the developmental stage, let alone managed to reach production. A new expression, ‘cyclecar’, was devised, and many an optimistic constructor believed that they could exploit this emerging market. Not all of these businessmen were engineers, and the deficiencies of their designs were soon apparent.


Morgan however, was a trained engineer and applied his knowledge methodically to begin work on a machine that would combine strength and lightness; as he explained a few years later:




‘In 1909 I designed a motor bicycle, but before it was completed, I succumbed to the fascinations of the cyclecar. Although I had been a very keen cyclist, I never cared for motorcycles.’





1909 – The Morgan Prototype


Morgan’s cyclecar project was regarded with some suspicion by his business partner Leslie Bacon, who considered that it could potentially compromise an otherwise successful car agency business. There is no evidence to suggest that Bacon was involved in the design or construction of the vehicle. The main challenge facing Morgan was the more practical problem of accessing the necessary engineering facilities to begin construction. The Worcester Road garage had a small workshop with basic machine tools, but fell short of the requisite amenities to build the complete machine. To help with the project, Harry’s motoring friends, brothers George and Robert Stephenson-Peach, introduced him to their father, Mr William Stephenson-Peach, engineering Master at Malvern College, and a pioneer of practical engineering in schools and colleges during the Edwardian period.







Morgan’s prototype cyclecar outside the Malvern College workshops. This is the earliest known image of a Morgan car, taken in the spring of 1910 when the machine was on test in the College grounds. The identity of the driver is alas, unknown.





Stephenson-Peach had previously experimented with, and built, several motorcycles, three-wheelers, and four-wheeled motor cars in engineering workshops at his former home near Repton in Derbyshire. Here, in addition to his commercial engineering work, he also taught pupils from Repton School, who were offered engineering tuition on the curriculum, Repton being one of the first schools in the country to do so. Assessing Morgan’s design, Mr Stephenson-Peach agreed to not only make the college workshops available to Harry, but to help and advise him with the project.


Throughout 1909, when garage commitments permitted, Morgan worked with William Stephenson-Peach to refine his design and construct the machine in the college workshops. Drawing on his experiences with bicycles, Morgan recognised the benefits of a simple tubular steel frame and therefore used this method to form the basic structure of his new chassis. The main ‘backbone’ was a two-inch tube aligned with the engine crankshaft and thus the axis of the transmission. This tube was bolted, via a brazed flange, to a fabricated steel gearbox, if it could be called such, since all it contained was a simple pair of bevel gears. Pivoted at the rear of this box was a set of forks supporting the single rear wheel. At the front of the vehicle, further tubes were set transversely across the main frame and at their extremities, carried the steering and suspension mechanism for the two front wheels. The chassis was braced by two further tubes from the bottom of the cross-head, to fittings under the gearbox, thus achieving a triangulated arrangement. These tubes also supported the floorboards. Considering the materials available at that time, it would be difficult to imagine a lighter, more minimal structure whilst achieving the necessary degree of strength and rigidity.


To power his machine, Morgan used a Peugeot 7HP, 45-degree, V-twin engine. Peugeot, in France, was a well-established motor car manufacturer, who, in 1901, had diversified to produce motorcycles, and by 1905 introduced a range of V-twin engines. Morgan set the engine transversely across the front of the frame where it gained the greatest benefit from the rush of cooling air. Transmission was via a conventional metal-to-metal cone clutch within the external flywheel, to a prop shaft that drove a pair of bevels within the gearbox. The crown wheel was mounted on a cross shaft, on which the driving sprockets freely rotated. These were keyed to the shaft by a simple sliding dog clutch arrangement that selected either the high or low ratio set of sprockets and chains to drive the rear wheel. There was no reverse gear. Brakes were fitted either side of the rear wheel only and were the conventional externally contracting band type; one was operated by a foot pedal and the other from a hand lever. Steering was by tiller, a method favoured by some pioneers around the turn of the century, but a rather odd choice a decade later.


Completed towards the end of 1909, Morgan’s cyclecar was tested on roads within the Malvern College grounds. Tests showed Morgan’s prototype to perform well, the lightweight Peugeot V-twin engine being more than capable of propelling the machine at an impressive pace.







Mr Chris Booth drives his replica of the 1909 prototype along roads within the Malvern College grounds during Morgan’s 100th anniversary celebrations in 2009. The original vehicle had used the very same roads for testing a century earlier.





Having proved the concept, Morgan now considered his next move. Several observers had remarked upon the impressive performance of the machine and suggested that he build further examples to sell from his garage. This clearly raised further concerns for Leslie Bacon; however, Morgan could see the potential of his machine and decided to test the market by exhibiting an improved example at the ‘International Cycle and Motor Cycle Exhibition’, due to be held at Olympia in London in November 1910.


With William Stephenson-Peach’s help, Morgan identified a few areas where improvements could be achieved and plans were made to build an additional three chassis to exhibit at Olympia. Since this would cause far too much disruption in the Malvern College workshops, Stephenson-Peach offered Morgan the use of more extensive facilities at Repton, where he maintained his commercial engineering interests. In the early months of 1910, Morgan and Stephenson-Peach visited Repton and worked on the project with workshop foreman Frederick Smith. Modifications to the design were considered, and Frederick Smith documented these changes, producing two engineering drawings. These historic drawings, rediscovered a few years ago by the author, are the oldest surviving representations of the first Morgan Runabout and provide a fascinating technical record of the machine. Dated 9 March 1910, they show a halfway stage between the prototype and the Olympia Show cars, as refinements were made.







Morgan’s ‘Runabout’, a section of a drawing by Frederick Smith, dated 9 March 1910. It shows the forward section of the tubular steel chassis forming the engine mounts, plus the cone clutch arrangement.





As work progressed at Repton, improvements were tested on the prototype in Malvern. The fuel tank was enlarged, simple front wings were added to prevent mud being flung towards the driver, and an acetylene light was added for nighttime driving. In June 1910, Morgan registered the vehicle with the Herefordshire authorities, being allocated the number CJ743. Finally, to improve the comfort and the aesthetic appeal of the machine, a new body was made and fitted by Pettifer’s garage in Bromyard. Albert Pettifer was well known to the Morgan family and maintained Revd George Morgan’s motor cars.


Experimentation with the prototype and further innovations resulted in the Olympia show cars differing somewhat from the original design. The gearbox was now a bronze casting into which the main chassis tube was soldered. The tubes supporting the floorboards were now moved inwards to run parallel to, and set below, the main tube. Intent on using the minimum possible number of elements, Morgan arranged that these two lower tubes now doubled as exhaust pipes.


Although the prototype used a Peugeot engine, Morgan considered that a British-built engine would be preferable. The simplicity of his design meant that almost any V-twin, or single cylinder engine could be fitted, the only modification required being a different set of engine-mounting plates. For the three Olympia cars Morgan chose J.A.P. engines; two 8HP V-twins, and one 4HP single.







A section of the second drawing by Frederick Smith, dating from the summer of 1910, showing the bevel box and transmission arrangement. The prop-shaft (entering the bevel box far right), drives via a set of bevel gears, the cross-shaft, and thence, via chains and sprockets, to the rear wheel (seen on the left).





Throughout the summer of 1910, Frederick Smith and his staff at Repton assembled three new chassis. The bronze gearbox (otherwise known as the bevel-box) was cast in the Repton workshops; other castings came from local engineering firms. The tubular steel frames were brazed together at Repton and, when completed, the chassis were transported to Malvern for finishing and final testing. For the Olympia Show, Morgan decided to display one of the V-twin chassis without bodywork so that the clever mechanical layout could be observed. The other two chassis were fitted with bodies built by Albert Pettifer in Bromyard, the 4hp having a simple seat and floorboards, the 8HP featuring a slightly more enclosed body with leg protection, very much the same as the prototype in its final form. The machines were finished in a light grey paint scheme, with black coach-lines around the panel edges.


Having proved his design, Morgan now sought to protect some of the machine’s innovative features from being plagiarised, and on 8 September applied for a patent for ‘Improvements in the Design and Construction of Tri-Cars or other Light Automobile Vehicles’. Patent No 20,986 was finally granted on 17 August 1911.







Morgan’s Peugeot-engined prototype in its final form, photographed in the grounds of Stoke Lacy Rectory in the summer of 1910.





Morgan named his new cyclecar the ‘Runabout’ and a local printer produced a simple brochure describing the Runabout thus:


‘The “MORGAN RUNABOUT” is a single-seated car, designed by a practical motorist to combine the comfort and safety of a motor car with the cheapness and simplicity of a motor cycle.


The “MORGAN RUNABOUT” is not a toy. It has been severely tested. It is fast and will climb any hill. It never becomes overheated. It is comfortable; a good rug and coat can be used by the Driver. It is thoroughly well sprung. Above all it is safe. The safety of the “MORGAN RUNABOUT” is secured by the very low centre of gravity, and the special method of springing, which makes an overturn impossible. Doctors will find the “MORGAN RUNABOUT” invaluable in their practice, even if they possess other cars; so also, will Commercial Travellers, as the “RUNABOUT” is designed to carry a very considerable amount of luggage.’


Olympia – Morgan’s Runabout is Revealed to the Public


‘The International Cycle and Motor Cycle Exhibition’ opened at Olympia in London on Monday 21 November 1910, the first exhibition of its kind in Britain. Morgan displayed his three machines on stand No. 250 in the Annexe. The struggle for recognition was fierce, there being numerous rivals, all vying for the public’s attention. The name H.F.S. Morgan was unknown; just one young engineer amongst many, trying to make his way in the fledgling motor industry. However, those observers with some knowledge of engineering could clearly see the superiority of Morgan’s design. Throughout the show the public response to the Morgan Runabout was very positive and many favourable comments were received. Journalists from the various motorcycling magazines were likewise impressed and reported on the Runabout with enthusiasm. Despite these encouraging endorsements, the number of orders received was disappointing, reports suggesting that fewer than twenty people had committed to buying a Morgan. The principal reason was the absence of accommodation for a passenger; all the display chassis being solo machines.







Harry Morgan’s youngest sister Dorothy in an early production 8HP ‘Runabout’, photographed in the grounds of Stoke Lacy Rectory, probably in the spring of 1911.





Morgan’s youngest sister Dorothy recalled that as far as Harry was concerned ‘The show was an absolute flop’. The solution however, was relatively straightforward, with a little ingenuity and some modifications, the Runabout chassis could easily be adapted to seat two persons. The fundamental question though, was would the machine sell in sufficient numbers to make the enterprise viable? If so, how could Morgan achieve the levels of production necessary given the limited facilities of his small garage? Diversifying a successful business in order to build motor cars was a huge gamble and had been the downfall of many an entrepreneur. Morgan had his garage, his dealerships, his private hire car and public omnibus services in the town; was he willing to risk all of this in the pursuit of his Runabout?







The author driving his recreation of Morgan’s first production 8HP ‘Runabout’ of 1910, photographed at Stoke Lacy Rectory.





A rather unlikely factor that may have ultimately influenced Morgan’s decision was the patronage of Richard Burbidge, managing director of Harrods in London. Having met with Morgan at the Olympia Show, Burbidge was impressed with the Runabout and offered to display the machine in his department store in Knightsbridge and promised some sales. Morgan now had to deliver the goods. To address the problem of production capacity, he approached a number of established motor manufacturers to determine if they were interested in buying the rights to his design, or perhaps entering into a partnership to build the machine. In this he was unsuccessful. If the Runabout was to succeed, Morgan had to build it himself.


Putting the ‘Runabout’ into Production


The Olympia Show had convinced Morgan that the ‘Runabout’ was a viable project. The garage business and dealerships were to be discontinued, the motor omnibus service would cease, and the workshops re-organised and extended for car production. Financial support (and moral support) for the new venture came from the ever-enthusiastic Revd George Morgan. ‘Morgan & Co. Motor Engineers’ were now car manufacturers. For Harry’s business partner Leslie Bacon, these latest developments were far too risky, and so he quit the partnership.


The first priority was to build the cars ordered at Olympia. Whilst William Stephenson-Peach had been invaluable with the development of the Runabout, it was obvious that he was in no position to help with quantity production. Morgan therefore equipped his Worcester Road workshop with extra machinery and engaged additional staff. He also approached fellow Malvern Link motor engineer Charles Santler, to whom he sub-contracted some of the machining work. The bronze bevel box and other castings came from one of the many foundries in Birmingham. These were brazed and soldered to a framework of steel tubes in Morgan’s workshops, to form the chassis.


Engines were supplied by J.A.P., and fitted with Brown and Barlow carburettors and Bosch magnetos. The British Hub Co. supplied the wheels, which were then fitted with Dunlop tyres. Bodies were built by Albert Pettifer in Bromyard and transported to Malvern Link in Pettifer’s post van (Pettifer had a contract to deliver post in the Bromyard district). The bodies were coach-painted in a standard light grey finish in Morgan’s workshop before being mated to the chassis. Accessories, if ordered, were the final parts to be added, such as a Lucas horn, or an acetylene lighting set from the Birmingham firm of Powell & Hamner. Finished Runabouts were tested on the local roads prior to despatch. Machines would usually be sent to their final destination on the railway network, Malvern Link station being conveniently situated adjacent to Morgan’s works, although some customers collected their vehicles directly from the factory.







Harry Morgan drives the modified ‘Runabout’ in the MCC London to Edinburgh Trial of April 1911.





With Runabout production now well established, the Olympia Show orders were completed, and work continued to fulfil subsequent orders from Harrods, although demand at this time was quite modest. To further promote his Runabout, Morgan decided to embark on a series of reliability trials, designed to test the strength and practicality of machines. Since it was intended that the new Morgan should compete directly with motorcycles, the Runabout was entered for the Motor Cycling Club’s (MCC) London to Exeter Winter Trial, scheduled for 26/27 December. This was a severe ordeal for both driver and machine, especially considering the poor state of the roads at this time, but the Runabout ran remarkably well and Harry won a Gold medal for his performance.


More success followed on the MCC London to Edinburgh Trial of April 1911. Minor changes had been made to the Runabout for this event, the most noticeable being a torpedo-shaped fuel tank. Despite sustaining damage when the machine hit a wall, Morgan finished the event and was awarded a special gold medal.


Developing a ‘Sociable’ Two-seater


Morgan’s next priority was to address the issues that had compromised sales at Olympia, in particular the lack of a two-seater and the rather antiquated tiller steering. In the early months of 1911, a crude two-seater body was fitted to an otherwise standard chassis (still steered with a tiller), to assess the performance of the car with two adults on board. Experiments proved successful and soon a production two-seater was under development, steered with a steering wheel. Customers could now choose the ‘sociable’ two-seat Runabout, or the monocar with revised bodywork. The aesthetics of the Runabout had evolved into a more refined machine with marginally better weather protection for the occupants, but other than the steering, the mechanical arrangements remained virtually the same.







The new two-seater ‘Morgan Runabout’, now with wheel steering, photographed outside the factory in Worcester Road, Malvern Link.





A surviving workman’s time book from February 1911 shows that Morgan employed a staff of eight local craftsmen at that time, most of whom lived nearby in Malvern Link. Work was overseen by Alfie Hales, a brusque, rather autocratic character from Birmingham, who had joined Morgan as garage foreman in 1906. Hales lived with his family close to the factory at No. 32 Redland Road. Working hours were from ‘8 in the morning till 7 at night, Monday till Friday, and 8am in the morning till 1pm on Saturdays’. Mr R. Baker was Alfie Hales’ second in command, being paid thirty-two shillings per week, considerably more than other workers!


The prototype two-seater made its competition debut in the Auto Cycle Union’s (ACU) Six Days Trial in August 1911 and, although performing well, success eluded Harry when the prop-shaft failed. This, however, vindicated Morgan’s decision to subject his machine to the extreme conditions of trials driving, which highlighted any potential weaknesses in his design and allowed him to make improvements to production Runabouts.







Morgan’s two-seater ‘Runabout’, now with wheel steering and weather protection, photographed on the stand at the 1911 Olympia Motor Cycle Show.





The two-seater went into production in September 1911 and, anticipating a great demand, Morgan made preparations to display his three-wheelers at the Olympia Motor Cycle Show in November. The new car, he felt sure, would attract many new customers, offering comfortable seating for two and providing a degree of weather protection with the option of a hood. The latest V-twin engine from J.A.P. gave a lively performance and for the solo motorist the monocar now sported a very rakish new body.


The Olympia Show opened on the 18 November and from the very start business was brisk. Following a very complimentary report in Motor Cycling magazine by journalist W.G. McMinnies, word had spread amongst enthusiasts about the exciting new Runabout, making it one of the ‘must see’ exhibits at the show. At 85 guineas (£7 extra for a windscreen and hood), the Runabout compared most favourably with the more powerful motorcycle and sidecar outfits. Dozens of orders were received, easily outstripping Morgan’s production capacity at his Worcester Road factory. Success however, raised new concerns about the Company’s ability to fulfil the orders – customers would have to be put on a waiting list, and that list was growing rapidly!


The Harrods Connection


A solution to the problem of large-scale production came from Richard Burbidge of Harrods department store, who had helped Morgan to promote the Runabout the previous year. Burbidge placed an immediate order for fifty machines and paid a deposit of £500 on the understanding that Harrods would be the sole concessionary for the Runabout. Furthermore, Harrods would arrange for bodies to be made and fitted, leaving Morgan to concentrate on just the chassis, thus easing the situation at the Malvern factory.







The 1912 Harrods-bodied ‘Runabout’. The substantial body proved to be too heavy and in consequence, the car’s performance suffered.





Soon after the close of the show, Harrods sent letters to no fewer than four hundred and twenty-six potential customers who had enquired about the Runabout, this at a time when the factory had recently increased its output to just seven cars per week! Even with Harrod’s backing, meeting this potential demand was a daunting task. By January 1912 Harrods ordered a further fifty cars and paid a deposit of £520. Delivery of the Harrods-bodied cars was scheduled to begin in March 1912.


At first the Harrods association appeared to work well. A London coach building firm produced the bodies and, although these appeared to be well-built and comfortably upholstered, they were significantly heavier than those made by Albert Pettifer and fitted by Morgan. This went against Morgan’s philosophy of simplicity and minimum weight. The performance of the Harrods cars consequently suffered and Morgan became increasingly concerned that the Runabout’s reputation would be compromised.


The deal with Harrods soon ran into trouble when in February the delivery of chassis fell short by four cars, cars for which Harrods had customers waiting. Burbidge sent a strongly worded letter to Morgan, pointing out the error and insisting that the shortfall be rectified. It would appear that rather than ‘putting all his eggs in one basket’, Harry Morgan was also despatching cars to other dealers, namely Jack Sylvester in Nottingham, and Billy James in Sheffield, apparently in contravention of the agreement with Richard Burbidge. It is not known how many Harrods Runabouts were built, or when the contract with Harrods was rescinded, but a few months later Morgan was free of the arrangement and set about the task of establishing his own network of agents. Morgan must have come to an amicable agreement with Burbidge, since Harrods continued to advertise and supply Morgan Runabouts to their customers for some years thereafter.


The Morgan Motor Company Limited


Morgan now faced the considerable challenge of meeting the demand for the Runabout from his own resources. To achieve the extra capacity, the Worcester Road works were enlarged with further extensions to the rear of the original garage, plus additional wooden buildings extending back towards Redland Road. To reflect the expansion and progression of the business, a new company was formed. On 1 April 1912, ‘Morgan & Co.’ became ‘The Morgan Motor Company Limited’. Harry Morgan was managing director, his father George, who had provided much of the finance for the venture, was chairman. The two men were the only shareholders.







Chassis production in the Worcester Road factory, 1912. Harry Morgan (wearing cap) is seen standing slightly left of centre, with workshop foreman Alfie Hales to his left.





Driving chassis production to ever-greater numbers was the formidable presence of works foreman Alfie Hales, who tolerated no slacking and pushed the men hard. It was said that even Harry Morgan, ‘The Boss’, was somewhat wary of his foreman!


Turning his attention to body production, it was clear to Morgan that Albert Pettifer in Bromyard was no longer in a position to meet the demand and so the work was now sub-contracted to two other local specialists. Wooden body frames were built by William Clare, a long-established coachbuilder situated a short distance further along Worcester Road in Malvern Link. Most of the sheet metal work was carried out by Edmund Langley, a tin- and coppersmith in the town who moved his workshop to a converted residential property in Redland Road, immediately behind the Morgan factory.


Morgan had identified a gap in the market and, together with other manufacturers, introduced a radically different and innovative type of vehicle. Consequently, an exciting new movement had emerged allowing ordinary folk to enjoy the benefits of motoring. The term ‘cyclecar’ was now in common usage for this type of minimal vehicle and by 1912 public interest had caught on to the extent that a magazine, The Cyclecar, was launched to cater for enthusiasts of the ‘new motoring’ as it became known. A glance at the ‘wanted’ ads in the back of the magazine confirmed that Morgan’s Runabout was clearly the most sought-after machine of its type, and the journal’s editorial regularly carried reports on the many successes that H.F.S. Morgan and others had achieved.


The cyclecar movement rapidly gained momentum and numerous other makes appeared: Auto Carriers Ltd, of Thames Ditton, Surrey built the AC Sociable; Ron Godfrey and Archie Frazer-Nash built the GN in North London. AC and GN cyclecars were amongst the better examples, but there were many more unproven contraptions, relying upon dubious mechanical arrangements, that did not succeed, and their makers soon vanished into obscurity. Foreign makes, particularly from France, joined the fray, the most notable being the rather unconventional, but surprisingly successful Bédélia, a narrow tandem two-seater in which the driver steered from the rear seat! Other companies developed the cyclecar concept further to imitate conventional automobiles, but on a much-reduced scale. These used motorcycle V-twin engines, or at best, small four-cylinder engines, hidden under a conventional bonnet, and became known as ‘light cars’. But of all the diverse manifestations of the cyclecar movement, the Morgan remained the favourite. The Malvern Link factory could not build them fast enough!


Aside from the demands of his busy factory, Harry Morgan had a far more important event to celebrate on 12 June 1912, when he married Ruth Day. Ruth, who he had met at a dance some years earlier, was the daughter of Revd Archibald Day, and lived with her parents in the vicarage at St Matthias Church, situated just a few hundred yards from the factory at the far end of Redland Road. With a spirited and extrovert personality, Ruth was the complete opposite of the quiet and introverted Harry Morgan. From that day on, Ruth would accompany Harry on numerous reliability trials all over Britain, often enduring long hours and the most appalling conditions, which were a feature of events at that time. A couple of years later, the demands of raising a family eventually spared her the ordeal of participating in trials.


Racing, Record-Breaking and Reliability Trials


It was critical in the early days of the cyclecar movement to prove beyond doubt that cyclecars were not just novelties but could withstand prolonged hard usage in a variety of competitive disciplines. Some fell short of these objectives and consequently their contrivances, and their creators, faded into obscurity. The better-engineered cyclecars, built by more capable manufacturers, soon showed that they were the equal of, and indeed in many instances superior to, the established motorcycle and sidecar combinations against which they competed. Morgan was at the forefront of the cyclecar challenge, and was soon amassing a remarkable tally of victories.


The most notable event in 1912 was a cyclecar race at the famous Brooklands track on 27 March. In promoting the event, one journalist neatly summarised the ethos of the cyclecar movement:


‘The cyclecar race at Brooklands marks the beginning of a new era in the motoring world. It indicates the commencement of motoring for the millions. The cyclecar, link between the motor car and the motor-bicycle, has been successfully launched upon the public, and, with proper attention and care, is bound to prosper. But the development of the movement requires the most delicate handling. Tests and competitions will do much to secure the perfection of the machines, but unless the public can be educated to understand the type of vehicle they can expect for their money, even trials will be of no avail. Simplicity, lightness, cheapness and reliability are features of paramount importance in any motor vehicle, but they are the very essence of the successful cycle-car. Over-development is to be avoided at all costs.’


It is almost as if these were the words of Harry Morgan himself. Representing Morgan in the cyclecar race was Harry Martin, a leading motorcycle racer. For Martin this was an easy victory, opening up a huge lead whilst attaining an average speed of nearly 60mph (100km/h). By the end of the race Martin crossed the finishing line in 8min 32sec, nearly 2½ minutes ahead of the second-placed Sabella cyclecar of E.D. Tate. This was an emphatic victory that totally eclipsed the rest of the field and confirmed the Morgan’s reputation as the finest cyclecar on the market.


The remarkable lap speed achieved by Harry Martin during the Brooklands cyclecar race encouraged Morgan to return to the track later in the year to contest the ‘Hour Record’ for the ‘Cyclecar Trophy’, a challenge sponsored by Motor Cycling magazine, to determine which machine could set the highest average speed within the hour around Brooklands’ banked oval. As the journal explained:


‘Driving a machine “all out” on Brooklands track for 60 minutes on end is a certain method of finding out weak points in design or materials. Few machines survive this test, and those which do may be reckoned as absolutely reliable and sturdily-constructed vehicles.’


The benchmark was set in May when a French Bédélia achieved 43.59mph (70.15km/h). By August a GWK cyclecar driven by J.T. Wood (Wood was one of the machine’s constructors – the ‘W’ in GWK) had raised the record to just 47.79mph (76.91km/h). Morgan then entered the challenge and in the BMCRC race in November overwhelmed the opposition by setting 55.19mph (89.54km/h). Wood in his GWK made a final challenge and achieved 56.04mph (90.19km/h) before Morgan secured the trophy with a run that just missed the magic 60mph (100km/h) target, a mere 640 yards short, the exact speed being 59.64mph (95.98km/h).







A ‘Continental’ tyre advert featuring Harry Morgan during the successful ‘hour record’ attempt in November 1912, or as one journalist captioned the photograph: ‘Morgan travelling at a mile a minute.’





Morgan naturally made the most of the victory to promote his Runabout in the press:


‘The Fastest and Most Economical Cyclecar is the MORGAN. It is also the fastest cyclecar in existence – and it proves by its wonderful performance at Brooklands that a three-wheeler not only holds the ground at any speed – but does so better than a four-wheeler.’


To prove the Runabout’s ruggedness not only on the racetrack but on rough roads and country lanes, Morgan continued his assault on the many reliability trials throughout the year. Harry (accompanied by Ruth) would be seen most weekends, especially throughout the winter months, competing in one of the many trials organised by the major clubs, or participating in local events organised by regional associations. Numerous motorcycle riders turned their allegiance to Morgan, and soon there were several regular competitors winning awards in Malvern Link machines.







Harry and Ruth Morgan about to depart for the Cyclecar Trial on 21 December 1912. The ‘works’ Sporting Runabout is remarkably well-equipped for night time driving!





On 21 December 1912, the Sutton Coldfield and Mid Warwickshire A.C. organised the very first trial specifically for cyclecars. The 100-mile (160-km) course was from Birmingham to Banbury and back, taking in three challenging hill-climbs en-route, including the notorious Sunrising Hill between Stratford-Upon-Avon and Banbury. Of the fifteen machines entered, the Morgan of F.H. Stevenson (the only amateur driver in the trial) was fastest up all three hills, the next fastest ascent being made by Harry Morgan driving the ‘works’ Runabout CJ743. Both won gold medals.







F.G. Boddington in his 1912 Standard Runabout during the MCC London to Gloucester Trial of December 1912. The following year Boddington was appointed the Morgan agent for Worcester.










The ‘Works’ Runabout CJ743, seen here during a Welsh reliability trial. The suitcase on the tail usually contained heavy bricks to improve rear-wheel traction, rather than a change of clothing!










This 1912 Birmingham-registered Standard Runabout and its crew was typical of the entrants for the many reliability trials of the period. Unfortunately, nothing more is known about the car or its occupants.





Of the major reliability trials, the MCC London to Gloucester trial was typical of the hardships that competitors faced in pursuit of victory and the resultant publicity. The Cyclecar magazine reporting on the 1912 event, led with the headlines: ‘Cataracts of Water and Gales of Wind. Only One Cyclecar to Finish on Time’. Harry Morgan and Frank Boddington were driving Morgan Runabouts, competing against a variety of other cyclecars and motorcycles. The trial started at 7a.m. on Boxing Day morning, no doubt some of the competitors still suffering from the excesses of Christmas festivities. The weather was terrible, driving rain making conditions for both men and machines particularly arduous. Furthermore, the event started in the dark, so consequently, acetylene lamps had to be kept going for some time.


As the Cyclecar journal explained: ‘With daylight the rain arrived, and those cars without hoods and screens rapidly began to fill with water. It was a chain-drive morning and it turned out a chain-drive day all through.’ This latter comment referred to the many cyclecars that relied upon the less-mechanical belt-drive or friction-drive transmission arrangements which were prone to serious slippage when wet. The Cyclecar report continued:


‘Aston Clinton hill was running with water, and it was quite impossible to pick a way up without traversing numerous rushing torrents 3in deep… The next hill was Whiteleaf, a sister hill of the famous Kop, and most of the men struck it when the rain was at its very worst. The Morgans and ACs showed how hills should be climbed, not without the back wheel spinning, but there was never any doubt as to their capability to get up… The rain and terrific wind had destroyed many of the directing arrows, and several men went out of their way in consequence… All that was left of the cyclecars at the luncheon stop at Gloucester were the two Morgans well up to schedule and the G.N. very late.


‘On the return journey the first obstacle was Birdlip Hill, the monotonous Morgans taking no notice of it at all, the G.N., evidently still running on carburetted water, spluttered to a standstill, but started again after a vigorous flooding. Those cyclecars without bonnets ought to have little umbrellas over their carburetters… At the finish, Mr H.F.S. Morgan drove up to the minute, the other Morgan driven by Mr F.G. Boddington, arrived half-an-hour late, while the only other car to complete the course was Mr Frank Thomas’ G.N., 40 minutes late.’


Harry Morgan won a silver medal for his performance, F.G. Boddington received a bronze medal. The Cyclecar report illustrated once again the supremacy of the Runabout at that time, the Morgan being the ‘must-have’ machine for new motorists who usually had no prior knowledge of motor cars and relied upon competition successes to determine the good from the bad.







A brand-new Sporting Runabout photographed in October 1912 in Redland Road at the rear of the factory in Malvern Link, in preparation for the forthcoming Olympia Motorcycle Show.










Another view of the Sporting Runabout destined for the Olympia Show.





The 1912 Olympia Show


For the forthcoming Olympia Motorcycle Show, the decision was made to extend the Morgan range to satisfy the budget-conscious motorist, the sportsman, and the touring motorist. The 1913 cars to be displayed at Olympia would include the Standard Runabout, the Sporting Runabout and the DeLuxe Runabout. The ‘Standard’ was the entry-level model priced at 85 guineas. The ‘Sporting’, as the name suggested, was a refined version with more rakish bodywork, at 91 guineas. The DeLuxe had a more substantial body with doors and deeper buttoned seats, costing 95 guineas. The single-seater, which throughout 1911 and 1912 had still been available in both tiller-steered and wheeled-steered form, was now dropped from the range.







Studio portrait of Harry Morgan, January 1913.





The Olympia Motor Cycle Show opened on Monday 25 November, Morgan occupying Stand 18. Commenting on cyclecars on display, the Auto magazine remarked that:


‘The Morgan is exhibited at Olympia for the third year in succession, which means that the maker must be one of the pioneers, if not the earliest, of the British manufacturers to take part in the present revival.’


Furthermore, Morgan’s sporting achievements had not gone unnoticed and according to one reporter:


‘…the business transacted on the first three days of the Show was sufficient to allow Mr H.F.S. Morgan to announce that he had sold his output for 1913. On his stand were two notices of his recent hour record, surmounted by a wreath of laurel.’


One would have imagined that, following such a busy season and the demands of having to run a factory, Harry Morgan would have taken the opportunity to relax through Christmas and the New Year. This was not to be however, as further reliability trials were scheduled for the holiday period:


‘To show what ground can be covered in these cars Mr H.F.S. Morgan started from Stoke Lacy Rectory in his “Runabout” on Christmas day for London, ran it in the trial from London to Gloucester and back on Boxing Day, and from London to Exeter and back the next day afterwards, driving it back to Malvern. In this time, he covered 800 miles, won a silver cup; and a gold medal.’


Quite apart from the sporting achievements, Morgan’s demonstration of driving showed that a ‘Runabout’ with the hood up was comfortable and largely dry, the occupants being protected from the worst of the British weather. Furthermore, this allowed for easy conversation – a far more sociable arrangement than the exposure and isolation of rider and passenger on a motorcycle outfit!







Demonstrating the Runabout’s weather equipment; this 1912 Sporting model is seen ‘hood-up’ in the garden at Stoke Lacy.





Events in the spring of 1913 might have inspired Harry Morgan to consider a new addition to the Morgan range – a ‘Family’ model – when, on 1 May, Ruth gave birth to their first child, a daughter christened Sylvia. Although Morgan had briefly experimented with a four-seater the year before, it would be several more years until the ‘Family’ model became a catalogue option.









A London-registered 1912 Standard Runabout. The gentleman seems relaxed behind the wheel, his lady companion looks rather nervous!










This 1912 Standard Runabout was photographed in countryside in the vicinity of Monaghan, Ireland.










Morgan’s DeLuxe Runabout parked in Redland Road in October 1912.








The Cyclecar Grand Prix


In January 1913, a new opportunity arose for Morgan to extend his influence in the cyclecar business and to bring his machines to the attention of continental motorists. A cyclecar ‘Grand Prix’ was to be held in the French town of Amiens on 13 July, and Morgan intended to repeat the recent success he had had at Brooklands. France had been one of the leading nations in the development of the motor car, but Morgan considered French cyclecars, with a few exceptions, to be lacking in engineering refinement and aesthetic appeal. The Morgan Runabout, he felt sure, could compete most favourably with the continental opposition.







Mr Claude Edgar of Hull prepares for a drive in his smart blue 1913 Standard Runabout. Note the canvas side panels to improve weather protection and the brackets supporting the spare beaded-edge tyre. Alongside is an early motorcycle with wicker sidecar.





From experience gained with high-speed running at Brooklands, Morgan realised that for endurance racing changes would be required to the current Runabout specification. For general stability and improved handling, it was necessary to lower the centre of gravity of the machine. This he achieved, by lengthening the chassis and lowering the seats to the floor so that the occupants sat in front of, rather than on top of, the bevel box. Overheating had proved to be a problem at Brooklands, and so Morgan now experimented with examples of the latest overhead-valve, water-cooled engines, fitted with a radiator immediately behind the engine in place of the conventional bonnet.







13 July 1913: on an oppressively hot summer’s day, Gordon McMinnies and his mechanic Frank Thomas set off at the start of the Cyclecar Grand Prix.





No fewer than four special Morgans were built for the French Cyclecar Grand Prix. All were different, two were to be driven by Harry Morgan and W.G. McMinnies, editor of The Cyclecar, both using 90-bore J.A.P. engines. The other two cars were to be driven by N.F. Holder with a side-valve Blumfield engine, and Rex Mundy with a water-cooled Green Precision engine. The different engines allowed Morgan to assess the benefits of each configuration under racing conditions.


Race day on 13 July was hot and sunny; this would be a severe test for the machines. Only three of the Morgans were present since, inexplicably, Holder had decided instead to concentrate on the BMCRC six-hour race taking place a few days later at Brooklands.







Winners of the Cyclecar Grand Prix, Gordon McMinnies and his mechanic Frank Thomas photographed immediately after the race.





The Cyclecar journal described the start:


‘The starts were given in groups of three, the road being sufficiently wide for this, and the arrangement providing a most interesting spectacle, for it gave the riders an opportunity of showing their skill in getting away from a standing start. The Morgan was remarkably quick in getting away, its liveliness and stability calling for most favourable comment. Nos. 7 and 8 Morgans started up at the same instant, the latter machine, driven by Mr Mundy, getting the advantage as soon as the straightaway was reached. While all was excitement at the starting line, the various types of machines spluttering and the spectators shouting in French and English, further interest was added to the scene at this moment by a Blériot monoplane effecting a graceful vol plané in a field just beyond the popular enclosure, on the outside of the course.’


‘The last man had hardly disappeared when a bugle call announced the approach of the first machine to finish the preliminary round. It was that of Mr McMinnies, who had started fourth and passed the three sidecars on this run of nearly eleven miles. The favourable impression which the machine had created at the start of the race was only strengthened as it came round again. It really took the two turns into and out of the track as if it were on rails and without the passenger performing any acrobatic tricks to keep it on the road. A few minutes later a second Morgan appeared. It was Mr Rex Mundy, who had passed Mr Morgan, held up, as it was afterwards learned, with a broken piston.’


Harry Morgan was out of the race, followed soon after by Mundy with a collapsed wheel. Many other machines suffered from the heat, or fell by the way-side due to mechanical failures. McMinnies (known as ‘Monsieur Mic Mac’ amongst the other competitors), continued at a great pace until he, too, had problems, his riding mechanic Frank Thomas, takes up the story:


‘In the last leg of the second lap we had to change a plug, but nothing caught us during this operation. In the third lap the car slid all over the road at the double “S” under the railway, and the driver, looking over the side, diagnosed a flat front tyre. The cause was a valve spring, which had been picked up by the cover.


‘Our vocabulary was not sufficiently extensive to describe fully our feelings as we sat down in the dust and put in a new tube. My thirst was terrible, and I shouted to the crowd to give us something to drink. My driver was furious and upbraided me roundly, but when a bottle of red wine was handed over the railings he drank deeply and said no more.


‘After that I have only a blurred feeling of speed, of corners skidded at fearful angles, of crowds cheering and waving as we flashed past, and a feeling of supreme joy as we gradually overhauled the field. Once I started to sing, but the driver again grew angry, so I desisted meekly.


‘At last, our position in the race was signalled as second, and I saw the driver set his teeth grimly. Could we get in front? The result was a most awful “blind”; crowds, trees, houses, passed in one solid mass. And then…’


McMinnies and Frank Thomas had secured a commanding victory, averaging 41.9mph (67.5km/h) for the 162.9-mile (262 kilometre) race.


Bizarrely, the French authorities refused to present McMinnies with the main trophy, belatedly explaining that the race was intended for four-wheel cyclecars, not three-wheelers, which were classified as ‘side-cars’. The headline in the next issue of the Cyclecar read:


‘Mr W.G. McMinnies of The Cyclecar wins the ‘Sidecar’ class on the Morgan – No Sidecars finished.


The silverware was therefore presented to the second-place finisher – a French Bédélia, much to the embarrassment of its driver and constructor; M. Henri Bourbeau! However, everyone knew who the true victor was: the British Morgan.







This is the car that N.F. Holder intended to enter in the 1913 French Cyclecar Grand Prix, but eventually withdrew. Holder had a relatively short racing career and subsequently used the car for touring, registered OA660, it is seen here pictured in the snow along Jubilee Drive on the western slopes of the Malvern Hills.





New Models for 1914


Morgan’s dominance of the early cyclecar movement had been confirmed and, based on the victorious machine raced by Gordon McMinnies, a new high-performance model was introduced by the factory. The Morgan ‘Grand Prix’, as it became known, was an instant success and many sporting motorists wanted one, adding to the already extensive order books. Two versions of the Grand Prix were available; the No. 1, powered by a J.A.P. water-cooled, side-valve engine giving a top speed of 50mph (80.5km/h), and the No. 2, powered by a ‘90 bore’ J.A.P. water-cooled, overhead valve racing engine giving a top speed of 60mph (96.5km/h) – an amazing pace at that time.


The requirement for water-cooling necessitated a re-arrangement of the front aspect of the car, so a domed radiator now featured in the design, eliminating the ‘coal scuttle’ bonnet. The exposed engine became the dominant feature of the car, thus emphasising the Grand Prix’s performance and its sporting pedigree. Sheet metal worker Edmund Langley undertook to build the radiators in his small workshop in Redland Road. Langley also assisted Morgan with the development of yet another version of his Runabout, aimed at the small businessman. The Morgan ‘Commercial Carrier’ was based on the Standard model, which could be easily modified by its owner, as one journalist described:







Morgan introduced a production version of McMinnies’ race-winning machine, appropriately called the ‘Grand Prix’. The as-yet unpainted prototype is seen here parked in Redland Road behind the factory in September 1913.





‘The firm are specialising for 1914 in a commercial vehicle for the conveyance of small parcels. A twin-cylinder air-cooled J.A.P. or Precision engine is fitted. This type affords seating accommodation for two, and has a carrier fitted at the rear of the seats, which is built to support a weight of about 1 cwt. The carrier hinges up to give access to the rear wheel. It can also be removed bodily by unscrewing eight nuts, and a standard passenger body can be substituted in a few moments. The cost, ready for the road, is £95, with £3 extra for the alternative body.’


The considerable publicity generated by the Grand Prix victory and other competition successes had resulted in a huge surge of orders for Morgan’s machines, particularly the new ‘Grand Prix’. Once again, Morgan engaged additional workers in an effort to increase production. Sub-contractors Santler, Clare and Langley were likewise working at full capacity to meet the factory’s requirements.







Morgan introduced the Commercial Carrier at the 1913 Olympia, seen here in the livery of W. James and Co., Morgan’s agent in Sheffield.





Despite these efforts, the requisite expansion of the business was constrained by the factory’s physical limits, being bordered by the main Worcester Road to the south, and residential streets to the north and east. It was clear to Harry Morgan that any significant increase in output could only be achieved by moving operations to a larger site. With this in mind, he searched for a vacant plot of land upon which he could build a new factory, preferably within close proximity to the Worcester Road works.


Whilst Morgan was struggling to achieve a significant increase in output from Worcester Road, the approach of the 1913 Olympia Show raised the immediate problem of how to cope with an anticipated increase in orders. The Malvern Gazette reported on Morgan’s success and gave the first indication of his plans for future developments:


‘The business of the Morgan Motor Company, Malvern Link, which now has about seventy men, and will shortly employ over 100, has been built up entirely by the energy of Mr H.F.S. Morgan who has designed every detail of the popular little car. Although the Morgan Motor Company is now a private limited liability company the entire control is in the hands of Mr H.F.S. Morgan, who owns practically all the shares and is Managing Director. The company are now negotiating for a site of about two acres in the neighbourhood of the Link for the extension of their works. The present premises, which are about one acre, will scarcely suffice to execute the orders already received for 1914, and a very large business is expected at the Olympia Show.’







The Morgan workforce poses for the photographer with new cars outside the Worcester Road factory, in October 1913.





The 1913 Olympia Show


The 1913 Olympia Motorcycle Show opened on 8 November. The popularity of cyclecars in recent times had seen the number of manufacturers increase significantly and, although there were now dozens of competitors for this sector of the market, Morgan clearly remained the leader. Business was brisk and the already-full order books were under further pressure. The Grand Prix in particular attracted much attention, offering more performance for its modest price than any other machine on the market:


‘A new model, which should command a very wide sale, is the Grand Prix, fitted with a water-cooled overhead-valve engine, and in every particular is identical with the winning machine of the Grand Prix. The price is £115. This cyclecar has shown itself capable of sustaining speeds of a mile a minute. It is therefore recommended for racing purposes, and no doubt the purchaser with sporting proclivities will find it an ideal vehicle.’


Morgan cyclecars had proved the dependability of their engineering in all classes of motorsport as well as in general everyday use:


‘The Morgan, most popular of the three-wheelers, is conspicuously staged near the centre of the hall and shows signs of improvement which, had they not been made, would have been deemed unnecessary. The 1914 Morgan shows how the master hand can improve where the layman finds no fault.’


For the prospective purchaser, Harrods store stocked a selection of more than a dozen cyclecars of the types seen at Olympia. An illustrated catalogue encouraged visitors to the Show to avail themselves of ‘Busses from Olympia to Knightsbridge every two minutes’ to view the display and place an order, whilst also benefitting from Harrods’ system of deferred payments. For the average man (and in a few instances, the average woman), becoming a motorist had never been easier.


Two notable visitors to Olympia with ‘sporting proclivities’ were chocolate virtuoso Roderick Fry and his son Cecil, who, searching for a machine approaching a motorcycle as near as possible, but with adequate protection from the elements, promptly ordered two identical ‘Grand Prix models’.


By the time the Olympia Show closed its doors on 16 November, Morgan faced an overwhelming demand for his machines that he was in no position to satisfy given the current facilities in Worcester Road. However, he had now successfully concluded negotiations for the purchase of land and the construction of a new factory, details of which were announced to the press before the close of the Show:


‘The Morgan Motor Co., Worcester Road, Malvern, inform us that they took orders for over 700 three-wheelers at the Show. 150 were ordered by their French agents, and two have been entered for the Paris-Nice Trial. The firm hope shortly to complete large extensions to their works, having purchased a site of 2½ acres at Malvern Link. Among their contracts is a large order from Switzerland, in addition to the French one mentioned above.’


Returning to Malvern following the success of Olympia, Morgan now faced the challenge of maximising production whilst overseeing progress at the new site, as the Malvern News reported:


‘Sales have been steadily increasing, until at present sixteen cars are being produced a week, and sent out to all parts of the world. The firm are now employing upwards of 100 men. As the demand is ever increasing, the firm have had to look about for a convenient site for new buildings. They have bought from Lord Beauchamp a field about a quarter of a mile from the present works, along the Pickersleigh Road, upon which they will shortly build some large shops for painting, finishing, hood-making and upholstery, leaving their present works for turning out the chassis only. When this extension is complete, they hope to be able to turn out twenty-five machines a week, with a staff of 150.’







Harrods published a booklet detailing the cyclecars on display in their Knightsbridge store during the Olympia Show week of 8 to 16 November 1913. Illustrated here is Morgan’s ‘Standard’ Runabout.





The huge popularity of the Runabout encouraged Morgan to place adverts in the Light Car & Cyclecar and Motor Cycling publications, which explained:


‘Having booked orders which exhaust our output for some considerable time, we beg to refer intending purchasers to Agents who have placed contracts with us, among whom are the following:’


There then appeared a list of forty-two agents, with four in London (not including Harrods). To cope with demand from the Continent, Morgan appointed his first overseas agents: L. Baudelocque and R. Darmont, of 128, Rue de Bois in the Stern suburbs of Paris; and in Switzerland; R. Voltz, Auto-Garages, in Thoune.







Roderick Fry, head of the famous chocolate company in Bristol, photographed here with his son Cecil, takes delivery of identical Grand Prix No 2 models, both fitted with the powerful 90-bore J.A.P. engine.



OEBPS/nav.xhtml






		Cover



		Half Title



		Title



		Contents



		Foreword by Charles Morgan



		Introduction



		1 Victorian Family, Edwardian Factory



		2 Pickersleigh Road



		3 The Early 1920s



		4 The Late 1920s



		5 The Morgan Family in the 1920s and 1930s



		6 The Morgan Factory in the 1920s and 1930s



		7 Three Speeds in the 1930s



		8 Three Wheels, Four Cylinders



		9 The Morgan 4/4



		10 The Morgan Factory in Wartime



		11 Post-War Recovery



		12 More Power – The Plus 4



		13 Re-designing the Morgan



		14 The Classic ‘Cowl Rad’ Cars



		15 The Morgan Factory in the 1960s



		16 The Classic 1960s Morgans



		Bibliography



		Index



		Acknowledgements



		Copyright











Page List





		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26



		28



		27



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39



		40



		41



		42



		43



		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		50



		49



		51



		52



		53



		54



		56



		55



		57



		58



		59



		60



		61



		62



		63



		64



		65



		66



		67



		68



		69



		70



		71



		72



		73



		74



		75



		76



		77



		78



		79



		80



		81



		83



		82



		84



		85



		86



		87



		88



		89



		90



		91



		92



		93



		94



		95



		96



		97



		98



		99



		100



		101



		102



		103



		104



		105



		106



		107



		108



		109



		110



		111



		112



		113



		114



		115



		118



		116



		117



		119



		120



		121



		122



		123



		124



		125



		126



		127



		128



		129



		130



		131



		132



		133



		134



		135



		136



		137



		138



		139



		140



		141



		142



		143



		144



		145



		146



		147



		148



		149



		150



		151



		152



		153



		154



		155



		156



		157



		158



		159



		160



		161



		162



		163



		164



		165



		166



		167



		168



		169



		170



		171



		172



		173



		174



		175



		176



		177



		178



		179



		180



		181



		182



		183



		184



		185



		186



		187



		188



		189



		190



		191



		192



		193



		194



		195



		196



		197



		198



		199



		200



		201



		202



		203



		204



		205



		206



		207



		208



		209



		210



		211



		212



		213



		214



		215



		216



		217



		218



		219



		220



		221



		222



		223



		224



		225



		226



		227



		228



		229



		230



		231



		232



		233



		234



		235



		236



		237



		238



		240



		239



		241



		242



		243



		244



		245



		246



		247



		248



		249



		251



		250



		252



		253



		254



		256



		255



		257



		258



		259



		260



		261



		262



		263



		264



		265



		266



		267



		268



		269



		270



		271



		272



		273



		274



		275



		276



		277



		278



		279



		280



		281



		282



		283



		284



		285



		286



		287



		288



		289



		290



		291



		293



		292



		294



		295



		296



		297



		298



		299



		300



		301



		302



		303



		304











OEBPS/images/Photo_1-2.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-1.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-4.png





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-3.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-6.jpg





OEBPS/images/head-img.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-5.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-8.jpg
12w i Y w. 3% D

T

Bramptonis Chain

22202

)

DD

Nz

LS 1

;L

|
|
i
| 4
R
3
Vu,
| &
| 2
-_<
N o 3
i ~H
ﬂ/
‘ot
& = 7 g
EEAN L
| 2 RN
i+
= )
- s w |
" [






OEBPS/images/Photo_1-7.jpg
{

3
3
3
N
=






OEBPS/images/Photo_3-5.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-11.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-9.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-13.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-12.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-15.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-14.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-17.jpg





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
MORGAN

AN ENGLISH ENIGMA

THE VINTAGE AND CLASSIC YEARS





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-16.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-19.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-18.jpg
Brooklands, Nov. 19th, 1912
H.F. S. Morgan on a “ Morgan "’ Runabout

covered in the hour, 59 miles 1,120 yards

1 e Motor Cycle"

Che “ Horgan” at Speed





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-20.jpg





OEBPS/images/Morgan_page_1.png
MORGAN

AN ENGLISH ENIGMA

THE VINTAGE AND CLASSIC YEARS





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-22.jpg
-3





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-21.jpg





OEBPS/images/Morgan_page_3.png
MORGAN

AN ENGLISH ENIGMA

THE VINTAGE AND CLASSIC YEARS

MARTYN WEBB

THE CROWOOD PRESS





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-24.png





OEBPS/images/2.png





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-23.png





OEBPS/images/Morgan_frontispiece.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-26.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-25.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-28.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-27.png





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-31.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-30.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-33.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-32.png





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-35.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-34.png





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-37.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-36.jpg
263 Fuglosa| Ry, S

B

Lr





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-39.jpg





OEBPS/images/Photo_1-38.jpg
HARRODS Ltd. Buses from Olympia to

The Morgan.

For Specification see-opposite page.

Knightsbridge every two minutes. LONDON, S\,

The Morgan.

Engine « .« . 8h.p. J.AP, 85 x 85 mm., air cooled.
Ignition . . Bosch high tension.

Lubrication . Splash by hand pump.
Carburettor . B.&B.

Petrol Tank  About 2} gallons. Consumption, 45
Capacity miles per gallon.

Control . . Throttle lever on steering wheel, igni-
tion lever on dash.

Speeds . . . Two speeds forward, no reverse.
Frame . . . Tubular.
Cluteh . . . Leather cone.

Transmission Clutch shaft to gear-box, thence by
chains to rear wheel.

Brakes . . . Two, both foot and hand acting on
rear wheel, external contracting.

Steering . . Direct to front wheels.

Wheelbase . 6 ft. over all; length, 8 ft. over all;
width, 4 ft. 6 in.

Wheels . . Wire; front, 26 x 23 in.; back, 26 x 3in. ;

Continental tyres.
Body . . . Pressed steel two-seater.
Standard
Colours
Equipment . Engine tools only.
Weight S0 Bhicwe
axy. 8 el

PRICE.

(Including 3in. steel and rubber combination non-skid
on back wheel, and delivered in London.)

For CASH, £92 10s.

By HARRODS’ SYSTEM
OF DEFERRED PAYMENTS.
A First Deposit of 2 ¥ S 23 1168%3dY
And 12 Equal Monthly Payments of  £5 18s. 4d.
Extras, Hoods, Screens, Lamps, Horns, etc., see pages 6-9.
For Prices and Particulars of Accessories, see pages 6-9.

French grey or green.

HARRODS LTD., Brompton Road, S.W.
THE House for Cyclecars.






